IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH PUMPHREY,

Petitioner

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO.
DCA NO. BM-118

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER

KATHLEEN STOVER #0513253 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

DONALD B. MAIRS CERTIFIED LEGAL INTERN

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH WILLIAMSON V. STATE, INFRA, AND MUST BE REVIEWED BECAUSE IT IMPROPERLY EXTENDS THE ESCAPE STATUTE TO PERSONS NOT IN CUSTODY AND NOT CONFINED.

The district court held in the instant case that petitioner escaped when he failed to return timely to jail after he was released pretrial on his own recognizance for a 24-hour period.

In order to escape, a person must be a prisoner. To be a prisoner, a person must be either confined or in lawful custody. "Confinement" and "custody" are currently defined, both by statute and caselaw, quite expansively. A person is in custody for purposes of the escape statute when he is placed under arrest (section 944.02(5), Florida Statutes; State v. Akers, 367 So.2d 700 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979)), even if he is not yet confined, placed in a police car, or even handcuffed (State v. Ramsey, 475 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1985)). A person is confined for purposes of the escape statute when he is in any prison, jail, or road camp, or working upon the public roads, or being transported to or from a place of confinement (section 944.40, Florida Statutes); when he is under sentence and permitted to go on work release or furlough (sections 945.091 and 951.24, Florida Statutes); or when he is escorted by the police to a

hospital from jail when he becomes ill (<u>Johnson v. State</u>, 357 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)).

Petitioner fit none of these categories. Not one. The First District's extension of the escape statute to a person not in custody and not confined is in express and direct conflict with the decision of the Third District in Williamson v. State, 388 So.2d 1345 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), in which that court affirmed the self-evident principle that a person must be in custody to escape. In considering whether Williamson's failure to report to the jail was a violation of his probation, the court said it was not,

. . . because the defendant's failure to appear was simply not in violation of any particular statutory provision — certainly not, as the state suggests, the escape statute, Section 944.40, Florida Statutes (1977), which requires the prior confinement of a prisoner.

Id. at 1347, n.2. Further, it should be noted that while Williamson was actually under sentence when he failed to report, petitioner was not, but rather was an unsentenced, unadjudicated pretrial detainee.

By its decision in the instant case, the First District has adopted a new, and erroneous, rule of law. No court has ever extended the escape statute to a person in petitioner's circumstances. While petitioner's failure to return may have been an offense, it was not escape. If the district court's decision were allowed to stand, since it permits conviction of escape without prior custody, every failure to appear in court and every failure to report to jail could be defined as escape.

As Judge Nimmons said in his dissent:

. . . the escape statute was never intended to encompass a pretrial failure to appear such as this.