IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

DEC 4 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Deputy Clerk

11,459

JOSEPH PUMPHREY,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. BM-118

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROYALL P. TERRY, JR.  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS  
THE CAPITOL  
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050  
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent adopts petitioner's preliminary statement.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner was a "prisoner" within the meaning of the applicable statute. Petitioner was being held at the Leon County jail at the time he tendered his plea of nolo contendere to pending felony charges. The court accepted the plea and permitted petitioner to take a one day furlough to attend to family business. Sentencing was set for several weeks hence, pending receipt of a presentence investigation report. Petitioner over-stayed his furlough by many days, but turned himself in to the Leon County jail prior to sentencing date.

At all times material hereto the sheriff of Leon County retained and maintained a right to legal custody, but, petitioner committed a conscious and intentional act of escape in leaving the established area of such custody (his grandmother's house), absenting himself from both the state and the country and failing to return to his jail cell at the time he agreed to do so and in violation of the court's order. The case authority relied upon by petitioner is not only inapposite, but has been since overruled by a much more recent decision of this court. There is no conflict meriting the discretionary jurisdiction of this court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS NOT IN  
CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISION OF ANY OTHER  
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL NOR OF ANY  
DECISION OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT.  
(Restated).

This was not a case of pre-trial detention as petitioner would have this court believe. At the time petitioner was granted a one day furlough, he had been arrested, booked into the Leon County jail, entered into a plea bargain arrangement, tendered his plea of nolo contendere to pending felony charges, and had the plea formally accepted by the court. The court withheld adjudication pending receipt of a presentence investigation and set a date for sentencing. At this point, the court granted petitioner's request for a 24 hour furlough from jail to attend to a family matter at his grandmother's house. Petitioner urges that because the trial judge generously permitted him to absent himself from his jail cell for 24 hours, on humanitarian grounds, that he ceased to be a "prisoner" within the meaning of the applicable statute. Petitioner appears to be arguing that his only offense is "failure to appear" under §843.15, Fla. Stat. It should be pointed out that petitioner was not released on bond and, upon return from the 24-hour furlough allowed by the court, it was his obligation to return to the custody of the sheriff and his jail cell to resume his status as a prisoner of the sheriff until he was obligated to return to

court for sentencing, some days later. Actually, petitioner did return to his jail cell and to the custody of the sheriff a number of days prior to his obligatory court appearance. There is nothing in the record indicating that petitioner did fail to appear in court on schedule. Thus, as far as court appearances were concerned, petitioner was never derelict. Appellant's crime was leaving the jurisdiction and not being in his jail cell when he was required to be pursuant to the court's directions. Petitioner was a prisoner and was not at liberty on supersedeas bond. If he had been, the crime would have been "failure to appear", but those were not the facts here.

Petitioner's reliance upon Williamson v. State, 388 So.2d 1345 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) to show conflict is misplaced, for several reasons. First, the issue in Williamson was not whether Williamson retained his status as a prisoner while he was on furlough to complete a job, after being sentenced to a year in the county jail, but whether the court had the authority to revoke a term of probation which had not yet begun. (fn 2. p. 1347) Petitioner cites merely dicta, as Williamson had not been charged with escape. Second, even if Williamson, a 1980 case before the Third District, were supportive of petitioner's argument, it is respondent's position that it has been overruled by this court in State v. Ramsey, 475 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1985).

Ramsey had been stopped for traffic infractions by a deputy sheriff. The officer informed Ramsey that he was under arrest, but before he could be restrained, he said to the officer "no way" and then fled. Ramsey was charged with escape in violation of §944.40, Fla. Stat. The escape statute is unchanged.

This court, in Ramsey, adopted the view of the First District as expressed in Johnson v. State, 357 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1st DCA, cert. denied, 362 So.2d 1054 (Fla. 1978)) in holding that the term "confinement" is not narrowly limited to actual physical presence in a jail. As in the case of petitioner, Johnson had been committed to the jail even though he did not escape from the confines of the jail itself. In Ramsey, this court approved the holding in State v. Akers, 367 So.2d 700 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979) that, for conviction under the escape statute the state need only show (1) the right to legal custody and (2) a conscious and intentional act of the defendant in leaving the established area of such custody. In the case sub judice, both of these requirements have been met.

This court quoted from George v. State, 203 So.2d 173, 175-176 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967):

"A statute should be construed and applied so as to fairly and liberally accomplish the official purpose for which it was adopted even if the results seem contradictory to ordinary rules of construction and the strict wording of the statute. . . And the manifest intent of the legislature will



prevail over any literal import of words used by it; and no literal interpretation leading to an unreasonable conclusion or a purpose not intended by the law should be given"

State v. Ramsey, supra at 673.